
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Civic Affairs Sub-Committee 

 
Date: WEDNESDAY, 24 JULY 2024 

Time: 9.30 am 

Venue: COMMITTEE ROOM, WEST WING, 2ND FLOOR GUILDHALL 

 
Members: Deputy Keith Bottomley 

(Chairman) 
Deputy Peter Dunphy (Deputy 
Chairman) 
Tijs Broeke 
Deputy Henry Colthurst 
Deputy Christopher Hayward 
Jaspreet Hodgson 
Deputy Ann Holmes 
Deputy Shravan Joshi MBE 
 

Alderman Alastair King DL 
Deputy Charles Edward Lord 
Timothy James McNally 
Wendy Mead OBE 
Deputy Andrien Meyers 
Alderman Sir William Russell 
James St John Davis 
Emily Benn 
 

 
 
Enquiries: Chris Rumbles 

christopher.rumbles@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 
 

Accessing the virtual public meeting 
Members of the public can observe all virtual public meetings of the City of London 

Corporation by following the below link: 
https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams  

 
A recording of the public meeting will be available via the above link following the end of 
the public meeting for up to one civic year. Please note: Online meeting recordings do not 
constitute the formal minutes of the meeting; minutes are written and are available on the 
City of London Corporation’s website. Recordings may be edited, at the discretion of the 
proper officer, to remove any inappropriate material. 
 
Whilst we endeavour to livestream all of our public meetings, this is not always possible 
due to technical difficulties. In these instances, if possible, a recording will be uploaded 
following the end of the meeting. 

 
Ian Thomas CBE 

Town Clerk and Chief Executive 
 

Public Document Pack

https://www.youtube.com/@CityofLondonCorporation/streams


2 
 

AGENDA 
 
 
NB: Certain items presented for information have been marked * and will be taken without 
discussion, unless the Committee Clerk has been informed that a Member has questions or 
comments prior to the start of the meeting.  These for information items have been collated 
into a supplementary agenda pack and circulated separately. 
 
1. APOLOGIES 

 
2. MEMBERS DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN RESPECT OF 

ITEMS ON THE AGENDA 
 

3. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the public minutes of the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee meeting held on 22 
April 2024.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 5 - 8) 

 
4. SPECIAL RESPONSIBILITY ALLOWANCE: UPDATE ON IMPLEMENTATION 
 

 Report of the Deputy Town Clerk.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 9 - 50) 

 
5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-

COMMITTEE 
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT 
 
 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC 
 

 MOTION – That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public 
be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that they involve 
the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act.   
 

 For Decision 
  

 
8. MINUTES 
 

 To agree the non-public minutes of the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee meeting held on 
22 April 2024.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 51 - 56) 

 



3 
 

9. BENEFICES 
For Discussion 

 
 a) Saint Peter with St Thomas, Bethnal Green  (Pages 57 - 58) 

 

 b) North Woolwich St John w Silvertown  (Pages 59 - 60) 
 

10. CHARGING REVIEW 2024/25 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 61 - 78) 

 
11. CITY HOSPITALITY AND COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT EVENTS 
 

 Joint report of the Remembrancer and Director of Corporate Communications and 
External Affairs.  

 For Decision 
 (Pages 79 - 86) 

 
12. EQUITY, EQUALITY, DIVERSITY AND INCLUSION (EEDI) AND EVENTS 

WORKING GROUP AND DIVERSITY QUESTIONNAIRE 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 87 - 106) 

 
13. UPDATE TO CITY CORPORATION FLAG POLICY 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer. 
 For Decision 
 (Pages 107 - 112) 

 
14. APPLICATIONS FOR THE USE OF GREAT HALL 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer.  
 

 For Decision 
 (Pages 113 - 118) 

 
15. * EVALUATION OF CITY-HOSTED EVENTS 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer.  
 

 For Information 
  
16. * CITY CORPORATION'S WINE STORE 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer. 
 

 For Information 



4 
 

  
 

17. * FORTHCOMING COMMITTEE OF COURT EVENTS INVOLVING HOSPITALITY 
AND OTHER NON-HOSPITALITY EVENTS 

 

 Report of the Remembrancer. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
18. * DELEGATED AUTHORITY REPORT 
 

 Report of the Remembrancer.  
 

 For Information 
  

 
19. * DECISIONS TAKEN UNDER DELEGATED AUTHORITY OR URGENCY 

POWERS IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDERS 41(A) AND 41(B) 
 

 Report of the Town Clerk. 
 

 For Information 
  

 
20. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-

COMMITTEE 
 
 

21. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT AND WHICH THE 
COMMITTEE CONSIDER SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE PUBLIC ARE 
EXCLUDED 

 
 



CIVIC AFFAIRS SUB-COMMITTEE 
Monday, 22 April 2024  

 
Minutes of the meeting of the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee held at Committee Room, 

West Wing, 2nd Floor Guildhall on Monday, 22 April 2024 at 2.00 pm 
 

Present 
 
Members: 
Tom Sleigh (Chair) 
Deputy Keith Bottomley 
Deputy Peter Dunphy 
Deputy Shravan Joshi MBE 
Wendy Mead OBE 
Deputy Andrien Meyers 
Alderman Sir William Russell 
James St John Davis 
 

In attendance (observing online) 
Emily Benn 
Deputy Giles Shilson 

 
Officers: 
Polly Dunn - Assistant Town Clerk and Executive 

Director, Governance and Member 
Services 

Matthew Cooper - Town Clerk’s Department 

Mark Gettleson - Town Clerk’s Department 

Chris Rumbles - Town Clerk’s Department 

Paul Wright - Remembrancer 

Holly Booth - Remembrancer’s Department 

Jo-Anne Brown - Remembrancer’s Department 

Rachel Cartwright - Remembrancer’s Department 

Leann Corachea - Remembrancer’s Department 

Charlotte Jones - Remembrancer’s Department 

Phil Black - Chamberlain’s Department 

Benjamin Chen-Sverre - Chamberlain’s Department 

 
 

The Chair referred to Sophie Fernandes having recently confirmed her intention to 
stand down from Civic Affairs Sub-Committee with immediate effect and of Giles 
Shilson having confirmed his intention not to seek re-election at Court of Common 
Council at the end of his current term.  The Chairman also confirmed that it would be 
Simon Duckworth’s final meeting as Immediate Past Chief Commoner. 
 
The Chair thanked each of them for the valued contribution they had made to the work 
of the Sub-Committee during their time as Members, with this receiving the unanimous 
endorsement of Members. 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



1. APOLOGIES  
Apologies were received from Deputy Christopher Hayward, Alderman Alastair 
King, Deputy Ann Holmes and Deputy Henry Colthurst. 
 

2. MEMBERS DECLARATIONS UNDER THE CODE OF CONDUCT IN 
RESPECT OF ITEMS ON THE AGENDA  
There were no declarations. 
 

3. MINUTES  
RESOLVED: That the public minutes of the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee meeting 
on 29 January 2024 were agreed as an accurate record. 
 

4. TERMS OF REFERENCE AND FREQUENCY OF MEETINGS: ANNUAL 
REVIEW  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Town Clerk providing an 
opportunity to consider the Sub-Committee’s terms of reference and decide 
whether any changes were required in time for the annual re-appointment, 
composition and terms of reference of Sub-Committees review to be undertaken 
by Policy and Resources Committee. 
 
RESOLVED:  That Members: - 
 

• Endorsed the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee terms of reference for onward 
submission to Policy and Resources Committee. 
 

5. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

6. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THAT THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT  
There were no additional items of business. 
 
A Member took the opportunity to highlight that it would be the Chair’s last Civic 
Affairs Sub-Committee meeting and to extend to him thanks on behalf of the Sub-
Committee for all he had done during his time as Chair, with this receiving the 
unanimous endorsement of Members.  
 

7. EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC  
RESOLVED:  That under Section 100(A) of the Local Government Act 1972, the 
public be excluded from the meeting for the following items on the grounds that 
they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in Part I of the 
Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act. 
 

8. MINUTES  
RESOLVED:  That the non-public minutes of the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee 
meeting on 29 January 2024 were agreed as an accurate record. 
 

9. CHANGE TO MEMBERS FINANCIAL SUPPORT SCHEMES.  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Chamberlain relating to a 
proposed change to Members’ financial support schemes.  

Page 6



10. APPLICATIONS FOR THE USE OF GREAT HALL  
The Sub-Committee considered a report of the Remembrancer detailing 
applications for the use of Great Hall. 
 

11. CITY HOSPITALITY COST GUIDELINES 2024/25  
The Committee considered a report of the Remembrancer presenting City 
hospitality cost guidelines for 2024/25. 
 

12. APPLICATIONS FOR HOSPITALITY  
The Sub-Committee considered three reports of the Remembrancer detailing 
applications for hospitality. 
 

a. Application A  
 

b. Application B  
 

c. Application C  
 

13. CITY HOSPITALITY BUDGET AND AUDIENCES  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Remembrancer providing an 
overview of the purpose of City Hospitality, audiences served, and type of events 
organised.   
   

14. DELEGATED AUTHORITY REPORT  
The Sub-Committee received a report of the Remembrancer setting out 
applications for hospitality and use of Guildhall approved under delegated 
authority. 
 

15. FORTHCOMING COMMITTEE OF COURT EVENTS INVOLVING 
HOSPITALITY AND OTHER NON-HOSPITALITY EVENTS  
The Committee received a report of the Remembrancer detailing forthcoming 
committee or Court events involving hospitality and other non-hospitality events. 
 

16. SUMMARY OF COMMITTED HOSPITALITY FUNDING  
The Sub-Committee received a joint report of the Chamberlain and 
Remembrancer providing a summary of committed hospitality funding. 
 

17. VARIOUS RECEPTIONS - FINAL ACCOUNTS  
The Sub-Committee received a joint report of the Chamberlain and 
Remembrancer comparing outturn for events.  
 

18. QUESTIONS ON MATTERS RELATING TO THE WORK OF THE SUB-
COMMITTEE  
There were no questions. 
 

19. ANY OTHER BUSINESS THE CHAIR CONSIDERS URGENT AND WHICH 
THE COMMITTEE CONSIDER SHOULD BE CONSIDERED WHILST THE 
PUBLIC ARE EXCLUDED  
There were no additional items of business to consider in non-public session. 
 

Page 7



Part 3 – Confidential Agenda 
 
Corporate Hospitality 
At this point in the meeting, the Sub-Committee considered an update of the 
Remembrancer relating to Corporate Hospitality. 

 
 
The meeting ended at 2.35pm 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Chairman 
 
 
 
Contact Officer: Chris Rumbles 
christopher.rumbles@cityoflondon.gov.uk 
 

Page 8



 

 

Committee(s) 
Civic Affairs Sub (Policy and Resources) Committee  

Date: 
24 July 2024 

Subject: Special Responsibility Allowance: Update on 
Implementation 

Public 
 

Which outcomes in the City Corporation’s Corporate 
Plan does this proposal aim to impact directly?  

Diverse engaged 
communities 

Does this proposal require extra revenue and/or 
capital spending? 

N/A 

If so, how much? N/A 

What is the source of Funding? N/A 

Has this Funding Source been agreed with the 
Chamberlain’s Department? 

N/A 

Report of: Deputy Town Clerk For Decision 

Report author: Ben Dunleavy 

Summary 

In July 2021, the Court of Common Council agreed, as part of the approval of the 
Members’ Financial Support Policy, that consideration would be given to the introduction 
of a Special Responsibility Allowance (SRA) scheme, particularly in relation to Chairs of 
Committees. The Civic Affairs Sub (Policy and Resources) Committee subsequently 
commissioned an external review, the results of which were submitted to the Sub-
Committee in January 2024.  

At its January meeting, the Sub-Committee agreed that it would be beneficial to consult 
with all Members of the Court. This exercise took the form of several consultation 
sessions, followed by a feedback form for Members to complete. Just over 50% of the 
Court membership took the opportunity to participate in the exercise.  

This report presents the results of that exercise which indicate that, whilst the relatively 
low level of participation does not provide for a conclusive view, in summary, a majority 
of those Members participating do not support the introduction of an SRA scheme in 
general terms for all Chairs, but some would support it for the role of Chair of the Policy 
and Resources Committee, subject to some further considerations.  

The paper also responds to allied issues raised through the exercise by Members relating 
to the level of the existing Member Financial Support Policy allowance (MFSP), which it 
had been noted had not been revisited since its introduction in 2021. Members are 
accordingly asked to consider whether they wish to pursue changes to the MFSP sum 
through the application of an adjustment for inflation, and whether they believe the 
introduction of an SRA scheme at the City Corporation should be pursued. 

Recommendations 

That Members: - 

1. Note the outcomes of the consultation exercise in respect of SRAs and, on the 

basis of these: 

a. Agree that there is no general support for the introduction of SRAs for all 

Chairs and to cease further activity in this area. 

b. Noting that the only role for which there was any substantive support for an 

SRA was the Chair of Policy & Resources, progress proposals for the 

implementation of an SRA for that post only. 

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



 

 

c. Consider whether officers should pursue an alternative approach, such as 

a further piece of work on the Financial Loss Scheme. 

2. Consider the application of an inflationary uplift to the Extended Support Scheme 

element of the MFSP, on the basis of the Consumer Price Index, to update the 

current allocation to £9,000, with the Chamberlain authorised to make inflationary 

uplifts on an annual basis moving forward. 

  

Page 10



 

 

Main Report 

Background 
1. In July 2021, the Court of Common Council introduced a new Members’ Financial 

Support Policy. This Policy was divided into two parts: a revised Members Financial 
Loss Scheme and a new Extended Member Support Scheme (EMSS). The former 
was intended to enable claims made for financial loss, while the EMSS was 
designed with the intention of ensuring all Members were eligible to be recompensed 
for the duties they undertake on behalf of the City Corporation. The Policy emerged 
directly as a result of Members’ aspirations to enhance the diversity of the Court of 
Common Council, particularly by ensuring that prospective candidates for election 
to the Court are not deterred from standing for election for any reason, including any 
prohibitive cost.  
 

2. As part of the Court’s decision to introduce this Scheme, it also directed that 
consideration should be given to the prospective introduction of a Special 
Responsibility Allowance (SRA) scheme, particularly in relation to Chairs of 
Committees. The introduction of an SRA was also referenced in the Independent 
Review by Paul Martin into project-related Member governance. The Civic Affairs 
Sub-Committee, therefore, commissioned Sir Rodney Brooke, CBE, DL, and Dr 
Anne Watts, CBE (‘the Reviewers’) to undertake an independent review in keeping 
with the Court’s resolution.  

 
3. The final review was presented to the Sub-Committee at its meeting in January 2024 

(Appendix 1). The Reviewers made a series of recommendations on the roles they 
felt merited receipt of an SRA. They suggested that the Chairs of each Grand 
Committee should receive an SRA, along with the Chief Commoner and the Deputy 
Chairman of the Policy and Resources Committee. The cumulative figure of their 
proposed amounts was £769,000, which they suggested should be updated 
annually. 
 

4. At its meeting, the Sub-Committee supported in broad terms the principle of 
introducing an SRA mechanism at the City Corporation, but expressed concerns 
with the methodology employed by the Reviewers, including with the comparators 
they used and the measures used to inform the proposed levels of remuneration. 
Accordingly, the Chair of the Sub-Committee requested that officers arrange further 
consultation with the wider Court to inform a set of final proposals for consideration.  

 
5. The consultation took the form of a series of sessions hosted by the Town Clerk in 

February and March 2024, to which all Members of the Court were invited. A survey 
form was also circulated to all Members, asking for feedback on the following 
questions: 
 

1) Are you supportive of the introduction of a Special Responsibility Allowance 
in any form as part of this, either to assist with social mobility or diversity 
concerns, or to provide fair remuneration? 

2) If yes, which roles should be considered? 

3) If undecided, is there any further information you would find helpful? 

4) If no, why not? 

Page 11



 

 

5) What other mechanisms do you think could be introduced to promote equity, 
diversity, inclusion and social mobility at all levels within the Court? 

 
Current Position 

6. Overall, out of 125 Members, 71 took the opportunity to contribute to the different 
consultations in some form. This accounts for over 50% of all Members (56.8%). 59 
Members (47.2%) attended the consultation sessions, and 43 (34.4%) provided 
responses to the survey using the Teams form or gave related feedback directly by 
email. 22.4% (28) Members both attended the consultation sessions and responded 
to the survey. 43 Members attended the consultation sessions only (34%). 13 
Members responded to the survey only (10.4%). 
 
Themes from sessions 

7. Overall, Members attending the sessions were split in their views on the introduction 
of an SRA scheme. Some Members were opposed to the introduction of any such 
scheme, while others supported it but with divergence of opinion as to what form it 
should take. As with the views of the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee, Members 
questioned the methodology used by the Reviewers in their report. It was also felt 
that, while the Reviewers had extensive experience in respect of comparative 
arrangements across local authorities, they lacked understanding of the specific 
nuances of the City Corporation. There were measures other than hours worked 
that should be considered when looking at SRAs, including the statutory obligations 
required of several senior Members, and the broader responsibilities of the Policy & 
Resources or Finance Chairs. 
 

8. Members also felt that, when considering the sums that might be involved in a 
potential scheme, non-executive directorship positions might also provide a useful 
comparator. 
 

9. Members questioned the assumption that SRAs would positively impact diversity at 
leadership levels, suggesting a lack of supporting evidence. Suggested alternative 
mechanisms to help encourage diversity included changes to the franchise, an 
enhanced programme of induction and training for Members, the introduction of 
evening meetings, virtual participation in Committee meetings, and increasing the 
existing allowances available for all Members. Many Members also noted that there 
had been substantial recent change in the Court’s diversity in recent years, achieved 
without the introduction of an SRA scheme, albeit it was also commented that the 
introduction of the MFSP may well have contributed to this and that there was much 
further to go in any event.  
 

10. Several Members, including a previous post-holder, felt that the role and 
requirements of the Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee were of a different 
nature to other Committee Chairs and may accordingly be more appropriate to 
receive an SRA. They noted that, unlike almost all other Member roles in the City 
Corporation, the extensive time-commitments of the role which made it akin to a full-
time position and, in effect, precluded someone without independent financial 
means from considering standing for the role. 
 

11. However, others felt that the existing non-financial support provided for the role (e.g. 
a dedicated bedroom and car services, etc.) was sufficient. It was noted that the role 
of Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee was eligible to receive 

Page 12



 

 

remuneration for activities on behalf of London Councils if they served, as is 
traditionally the case, as the Vice-Chair of the London Councils Leaders Committee; 
however, it must also be noted that is for activity undertaken for London Councils, 
not for the City Corporation, and the level, funding, and continuation of any such 
allowance was entirely out of the control of the City Corporation, and could not be 
taken as being a part of their role at the City itself. 
 

12. With regard to the benefits perceived as accruing to the role of Chair of the Policy 
and Resources Committee as provided by the City Corporation, the entitlement to 
accommodation and transport are granted due to the commitments required of this 
role are to degrees available and applicable to all Chair roles, so are not easily 
quantifiable. The use of the cars is governed in accordance with the Member 
Transport Protocol, and is allowed to all Committee Chairs: the Chief Commoner 
and the Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee are given priority in the case 
of multiple requests for use, but all Chairs can book the cars when engaged on 
official City Corporation business and, if the two Corporation cars are in use, be 
provided with a taxi service, so there is broad parity of treatment. 
 

13. Equally, any serving Chair (or Member acting on their behalf) is entitled to book free 
accommodation through the Member Bedrooms when representing the Corporation 
at evening or early morning functions. The dedicated allocation of rooms to the Chief 
Commoner and the Chair of Policy & Resources recognises the more extensive 
evening and morning obligations of their roles and alleviates what might become an 
administrative burden in respect of processing repeat bookings for rooms to which 
they would be entitled under the general Policy that applies to all Members. 

 
14. Opinion varied as to which other roles, if any, might merit receipt of an SRA. 

Members noted that several senior roles had not been included in the Review, 
including those of the Lord Mayor and the Sheriffs. 

 
15. The optics and political implications of introducing SRAs were felt to be important. 

Several Members felt that, when considered in the context of the current economic 
conditions affecting the country and the City Corporation’s own financial position, it 
would not be appropriate time to introduce an SRA. Members also warned that 
introducing an SRA risked politicising the City Corporation and its independent 
arrangements, and it was felt that this could potentially lead to the demise of the 
Corporation in its current configuration. 

 
Consultation Responses 

16. Of the 43 survey responses, 13 Members (30.2%) responded directly with a ‘Yes’ to 
the question ‘Are you supportive of the introduction of a Special Responsibility 
Allowance in any form as part of this, either to assist with social mobility or diversity 
concerns, or to provide fair remuneration?’.  

 
17. Two of these responses supported an SRA for the role of Chair of the Policy and 

Resources Committee only. The remaining responses supported introducing it to 
differing degrees: from all Members, to all Committee Chairs, to distinct Chair roles, 
with (other than Policy & Resources) the positions of Chair of the Finance 
Committee, the Planning and Transportation Committee, the Police Authority Board, 
Community and Children’s Services being the most common. Some Members also 

Page 13



 

 

suggested that the roles of Lord Mayor, Chief Commoner and Sheriffs might be 
included. 
 

18. Only two Members expressed support for the introduction of an SRA for all Chairs, 
as suggested by the Reviewers.  

 
19. 24 of the responses to the survey responded 'No’ (55.8%) and 4 (9.3%) responded 

‘Undecided’. However, 4 of the ‘no’ responses (16.6%) clarified that that they would 
support it in the case of the position of Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee, 
as did two of the ‘Undecided’ responses, and these could therefore be considered 
to be ‘Yes’ responses in terms of the question actually posed, bringing the ‘Yes’ 
figure up to 15 (34.9%).  
 
Next Steps 
 
Special Responsibility Allowance 

20. Given the variety of views expressed by those Members who took part in the 
consultation, as well as the proportion of the overall Court who did not participate in 
the consultation process, it is not possible to conclude definitively any single clear 
position in respect of the Court’s overall view on the question of SRAs.  
 

21. However, using the data and responses which are available, it is clear that there is 
no significant support for the introduction of SRAs to all Chairs as a general principle 
and that, where support for any such allowance was advocated, it was for a small 
number of posts and, in particular, the role of Chair of Policy & Resources as the 
role with the most statistically significant level of support.  

 
22. The Sub-Committee is therefore asked to consider whether they wish to proceed 

with the implementation of a Special Responsibility Allowance for all, some, one, or 
no roles, taking in to account the consultation responses.  

 
23. The full list of the recommended allowances proposed by the Reviewers is set out 

in Appendix 1. In view of the general low level of support for SRAs across the board 
and the disquiet with the methodology used to calculate the commitment for many 
roles, then if Members do wish to pursue SRAs in some form, an explicit decision is 
required as to whether to proceed with the recommended sums or to instruct officers 
as to an alternative methodology. 

 
24. Equally, if Members are supportive of progressing SRAs for specific roles, a similar 

consideration will need to be taken. In doing so, Members should be mindful of the 
variation in approach taken in calculating proposed sums and take this into account 
(for instance, paragraph 62 of the Review at Appendix 1 articulates the rationale for 
the £90,000 sum suggested for the role of Chair of the Policy and Resources 
Committee with reference to benchmarking against comparator roles across London 
Boroughs). 

 
25. Based on the volume and nature of the consultation exercises, it is proposed that 

work on SRAs for all Chairs be ceased, but that some further work is undertaken 
with regard to the possible introduction of an SRA for the Chair of Policy & 
Resources. 
 

Page 14



 

 

26. Should Members approve a way forward to adopt an SRA in some form, a review 
with the City Corporations’ external tax advisers to understand the implications 
would be required once it is clearer what the final proposal is.   
 
Member Financial Support Policy  

27. One aspect that has emerged as part of the process is a suggestion that the basic 
allowance for Members should be explored as a means of ensuring the original 
intent to remove barriers to access has not lapsed. This is particularly so given that 
the level of allowances for Members has not been addressed since their introduction 
in 2021, when they were set at a maximum of £7500. This figure was originally 
based on the then inner-London Weighting figure of £6710.04, adjusted to £7500 to 
take into account some of the additional costs required of Members for the City 
Corporation’s civic events. The figure was also considered in the contest of not 
wishing to create an unintentional tax liability for Members in respect of National 
Insurance Contribution thresholds. 
 

28. In the three years since the introduction of MFSP, the £7500 figure has not changed 
despite the rise in inflation and other cost of living issues. In view of the express 
intent of the MFSP in ensuring prospective candidate for office are not precluded 
from service due to financial costs associated with service, it is considered prudent 
to assess the merits of applying an inflationary uplift both in respect of the current 
figure and on an ongoing basis, to ensure the ambitions of the MFSP’s introduction 
are met. There are various mechanisms which could be explored to achieve this, 
which are set out below. 

 
29. Link to staff pay: One potential option suggested has been to link any uplifts to the 

MFSP to annual increases in staff pay, as the current sum is based on the inner-
London Weighting figure applied to staff salaries. In the three years since the 
introduction of the MFSP, and if the pay offer proposed to the recognised Trade 
Unions in June 2024 is adopted, staff at Grade A have received a 24% increase in 
salary (inner-London Weighting. If the MFSP had risen by the same figure in this 
period, it would now be £9,300. Grades F to J have seen basic salary increases of 
between 15.6% and 11.4%, which would be £8,670 and £8,355 for the MFSP, 
respectively. 
 

30. However, there is a risk that linking the payments in such a way could conflate the 
perception of Members as being employees. There is an important distinction to be 
between allowances and salary and the voluntary status of Members: that status 
comes with conditions that support various applicable tax exemptions. Equally, 
Members ultimately determine the level of staff salary increases and thus there 
would be a very material risk that a member of the public might perceive there to be 
a direct pecuniary interest of Members in receipt of the MFSP payments in making 
staff salary decisions.  

 
31. For these reasons, this approach is not recommended. 

 
32. Inflationary Link: Another potential mechanism for uplifting allowances would be 

to link them directly to inflation, such as through the Consumer Price Index or Retail 
Price Index.  Using Consumer Price Index (CPI) inflation data from the Office for 
National Statistics from 1988 onward, the £7500 figure set in 2021 would now 
equate to £9000. 

Page 15



 

 

 
33. The application of an inflationary uplift on an annual basis, to be managed by the 

Chamberlain, would ensure that the sum remained in keeping with costs incurred 
by elected councillors in performing their duties.  

 
34. In order to ensure that other relevant factors are taken into account and that the 

overall position is kept under review, it is also suggested that the arrangements 
should be reviewed on no less than a triennial basis with a report submitted to the 
relevant committee. 

 
35. In considering uplifts to the Member Financial Support Policy, it will also be important 

to bear in mind that there is a threshold beyond which national insurance will be 
deducted. The current monthly threshold is £1,048, meaning an annual threshold of 
£12,576.  

 
Member Financial Support Policy – loss of financial earnings 

36. Given the link discussed between the potential loss of earnings that an individual 
serving in one of the more time-intensive roles might suffer, Members may also wish 
to consider if there should be changes to the element of the Member Financial 
Support Policy relating to financial loss.  
 

37. No Members have claimed on the financial loss scheme since the revised policy 
was agreed in 2021, which calls into question its efficacy or appropriateness. In 
particular, if Members are not supportive of SRAs being introduced, the financial 
loss element of the scheme may merit further exploration, as an alternative 
mechanism by which the organisation might ensure that any potential candidate for 
office is not precluded from service on an economic basis. 
 
Corporate and Strategic Implications 

Financial Implications 
38. In respect of longer-term financial implications, the total cost of the 

recommendations of the Reviewers, if fully implemented, would be £769,000 per 
annum. The Chamberlain has made provision within the budgeting cycle for this 
amount, should Members wish to implement the proposals in full.  
 

39. If Members choose to only introduce SRAs for certain positions, then the cost would 
necessarily change in line with the positions selected. The Reviewers have provided 
a recommended amount for each role. For example, for the role of Chair of Policy 
and Resources Committee, which was the most prominent position which Members 
felt would merit the introduction of an SRA, the Reviewers recommended an annual 
rate of £90,000. It would be for Members to decide if these amounts are appropriate, 
or if further work should be undertaken in respect of specific roles or proposals. 
 

40. If Members decide not to proceed with the introduction of an SRA, the provisional 
allocation would be accounted for as a saving in the budget-setting process. 
 

41. It should be noted that any proposed outcomes and proposals for a special 
responsibility allowance will also require review with the City Corporation’s external 
tax advisers to ensure that any implications are fully understood prior to formal 
proposal and implementation. 

 

Page 16



 

 

42. Equally, it is anticipated that any decision to uplift the general MFSP allowance 
would be met from this allocation. 

 
Legal Implications  

43. As advised in previous reports on financial support schemes, the City Corporation 
is able to use the general power of competence under s.1 of the Localism Act 2011 
to fund any proposed payments using City Fund should it so wish. It can also use 
its private funds i.e. City’s Estate for the same purpose. An assistance scheme 
provided by the authority itself is not a disclosable pecuniary interest and therefore 
there is nothing to prevent Members from speaking and voting on this proposal.  

 
Equality Impact Assessment and Public Sector Equality Duty 

44. Under the Equality Act 2010, all public bodies have a duty to ensure that when 
exercising their functions they have due regard to the need to advance equality of 
opportunity between people who share a protected characteristic and to take steps 
to meet the needs of people with certain protected characteristics where these are 
different from the needs of other people, and to encourage people with certain 
protected characteristics to participate in public life or in other activities where their 
participation is disproportionately low. An assessment of the people with protected 
characteristics was undertaken prior to the Members Financial Support Policy 
Scheme’s approval (i.e., age, disability, gender transition, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion and belief, sex and sex 
orientation).  
 

45. A request was made at June’s Court of Common Council meeting that a full Equality 
Impact Assessment (EQIA) be undertaken to support consideration of the SRA 
review. Officers have assessed the proposals in an attempt to do so and completed 
an initial impact assessment accordingly. As Members will be aware, full EQIAs 
should be undertaken in such a way as to produce verifiable analysis, which requires 
that a certain level of data be available to provide a benchmark and analyse any 
impact that the introduction of an SRA might have. There is currently no data 
monitoring of the existing membership of the Court of Common Council (including 
Committee Chairs), or of eligible candidates who may wish to stand for election to 
the Court and, in turn, to positions which may be granted an SRA. A demographic 
survey of the Court was last undertaken in October 2017 as part of the work of the 
Member Diversity Working Party, though it is worth noting that only 60% of Members 
responded with a substantial turnover in Membership since then. Therefore, the 
initial assessment has highlighted a need for this data capture, to sit alongside the 
pre-existing data, in order to allow for a fuller EQIA to be progressed prior to 
consideration by the Policy & Resources Committee / Court of Common Council of 
whichever proposals the Civic Affairs Sub-Committee wishes to explore further. 

 
46. Notwithstanding this, however, the initial impact assessment has identified that is a 

widely accepted principle that inadequate remuneration can serve as a potential 
barrier to participation in public life, and thus may impact the diversity of the field of 
Members and electoral candidates. The principle that providing an alternative 
means of support can serve to alleviate this barrier is one that has been articulated 
by a wide range of reviews considering remuneration for those serving in local 
authority (or similar) positions. For example, within the local authority sphere 
specifically, a joint independent review commissioned by the Scottish Government 

Page 17



 

 

and the Convention of Scottish Local Authorities1 to consider ‘Increasing the 
Diversity of Local Councillors’ raised levels of remuneration as a major concern in 
acting as a barrier towards representation, and recognised reviewing these would 
be ‘an important step towards supporting an increase in diversity of Scotland’s local 
elected Members’. Similar exercises by the Senedd in Wales2 and the Local 
Government Association3 in England demonstrate that the diversity of councillors 
across the UK is not reflective of the diversity of the populace, with each highlighting 
inadequate remuneration as one of the barriers to tackling this. The London 
Councils’ Remuneration Panel has, as one of its principles, that ‘allowances must 
make it economically possible for the organisation to draw of a wide range of 
councillors’4 and a review into increasing Councillor’s allowances and expenses 
commissioned by Derby City Council felt that ‘if left unaddressed, comparatively low 
levels of remuneration would have a debilitating impact on the quality and diversity 
of elected representation.’5 
 

47. More generally, social mobility research and studies consistently draw strong links 
between limitations on opportunity, both in terms of ‘getting in’ to and ‘getting on’ 
within organisations, in respect of unpaid or poorly remunerated roles for individuals 
from less privileged backgrounds. The Social Mobility Commission has published 
research indicating that unpaid full-time internships are viewed as damaging to 
social mobility; researchers such as Daniel Laurison and Sam Freidman6 have 
written extensively on the issue of individual economic security in facilitating access 
to opportunities, and the intersectionality of social mobility and diversity. Those with 
financial security (whether that be the “bank of mum and dad” or other means) can 
take unpaid or low-paid job opportunities which others cannot. 

 
48. This premise was accepted by the Court in introducing the Member Financial 

Support Policy for all Members. It would therefore follow that any roles which require 
a full-time commitment would be even more challenging to do without independent 
means of support, a point picked up by several Members during the consultation 
exercise: self-evidently, any role which requires substantial time commitment 
without remuneration relies on independent means of income, which risks 
embedding specific roles as being only for those who can afford to do them for free. 

 
49. Noting the lack of data available in respect of current and past Common Councillors 

in respect of changes in social mobility or protected characteristics across the Court 
since the Allowance’s introduction, on an anecdotal basis, many Members have 
reflected on the positive movements towards a more diverse Court in recent years, 
including during the consultation sessions as referenced above. 

 
Conclusion 

50. Following the commissioning and receipt of an independent review, officers have 
conducted a consultation exercise to get the views of Members on the proposal to 

                                                           
1 TIME IS RIGHT FOR A REALISTIC REMUNERATION FOR COUNCILLORS, SAYS COSLA | COSLA  
2 https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s81009/Survey%20analysis%20-%20Councillors.pdf 
3 https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Councillors%27%20Census%202022%20-

%20report%20FINAL-210622.pdf 
4 ipmr_-_london_councils_2_updated_on_25_jan_2024_ag_2_2_0 (4).pdf 
5 https://www.derby.gov.uk/news/2021/july/councillors-allowances-and-

expenses/#:~:text=In%20addition%2C%20the%20Panel%20felt,representation%20for%20residents%20in%20Derb

y.  
6“The Class Ceiling: Why it Pays to be Privileged”, Friedman / Laurison, 2019, Policy Press 

Page 18

https://www.cosla.gov.uk/news/2021/time-is-right-for-a-realistic-remuneration-for-councillors,-says-cosla
https://business.senedd.wales/documents/s81009/Survey%20analysis%20-%20Councillors.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Councillors%27%20Census%202022%20-%20report%20FINAL-210622.pdf
https://www.local.gov.uk/sites/default/files/documents/Councillors%27%20Census%202022%20-%20report%20FINAL-210622.pdf
file:///C:/Users/BenXD/Downloads/ipmr_-_london_councils_2_updated_on_25_jan_2024_ag_2_2_0%20(4).pdf
https://www.derby.gov.uk/news/2021/july/councillors-allowances-and-expenses/#:~:text=In%20addition%2C%20the%20Panel%20felt,representation%20for%20residents%20in%20Derby
https://www.derby.gov.uk/news/2021/july/councillors-allowances-and-expenses/#:~:text=In%20addition%2C%20the%20Panel%20felt,representation%20for%20residents%20in%20Derby
https://www.derby.gov.uk/news/2021/july/councillors-allowances-and-expenses/#:~:text=In%20addition%2C%20the%20Panel%20felt,representation%20for%20residents%20in%20Derby


 

 

introduce an SRA scheme. The results of this review have demonstrated a mixed 
appetite, with a majority of Members consulted indicated that they do not support 
the introduction of an SRA scheme, though with a proportion coalescing around the 
role of Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee as potentially appropriate. 
Members views on a way forward are therefore sought. 
 

 
Appendices  
Appendix 1: Review by Sir Rodney Brooke and Dr Anne Watts 
 
Background Papers 
Members’ Financial Support Policy – Court of Common Council – July 2021 
 
Ben Dunleavy 
Governance and Member Services Manager 
Governance and Member Services Team 
Ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk  
 

Page 19

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/documents/s156072/ITEM%208%20-%20PR%20-%20Member%20Financial%20Support%20Policy%20-%20Report.pdf
mailto:Ben.dunleavy@cityoflondon.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 20



1 
 

City of London – Remuneration of members: December 2023 

Report of Dr Anne Watts CBE and Sir Rodney Brooke CBE DL 

1. The City of London Corporation is a unique institution. It has three 
main functions: to support and promote the City as a leading 
global financial and business hub; to provide local government 
services to the residents, visitors and businesses of the Square 
Mile; and to manage a range of assets and open spaces for the 
benefit of London and the nation. It has local authority functions 
but, as the governing body of the Square Mile, has a mission 
dedicated to the maintenance of a vibrant and thriving City. It is 
seen as a champion and spokesperson for the UK’s financial 
services industry. It also plays a significant role in the pageantry of 
the country – most recently during the Royal Jubilee, the funeral of 
the Queen and the Coronation. 

2. Financial services in the City represent nearly £14bn, a third (29%) 
of the Gross Value (GVA) added and one in every five financial 
services jobs in the UK. The City generates £1.1bn in business rates 
and is a key driver of the economy. It accounts for over £85bn in 
economic output annually, or 4% of all UK GVA. Financial services 
in the City accounted for over £48bn in GVA in 2020. The City’s 
professional services generated nearly £14bn in GVA. This 
represents nearly a fifth (17%) of the UK’s professional services. 

3. Fewer than 10,000 people live in the City of London itself. The City 
of London Corporation does, of course, provide the usual local 
government services to those residents. Though post-Covid 
working patterns have changed, the Corporation must also cater 
for up to one million workers who enter the City - or one in every 
54 workers in the UK.  

4. The City Corporation also has extensive responsibilities which 
extend beyond its own geographical area. It runs the Barbican 
Centre, the largest performing arts centre of its kind in Europe; the 
London Port Health Authority; the Guildhall School of Music and 
Drama; the central criminal court (‘the Old Bailey’); and 
Billingsgate, Smithfield and New Spitalfields wholesale food 
markets. It is responsible for green spaces such as Hampstead 
Heath and Epping Forest, as well the Animal Reception Centre at 
Heathrow. It provides housing across London and a range of 

Page 21



2 
 

schools and academies. The City of London Police has national 
responsibility for cyber and economic crime.  

5. In 2023-24 the basic budget of the City Corporation (the City Fund) 
is £493.8m. This covers the City Corporation’s activities in its 
capacity as a local authority, police authority and port health 
authority. The resources of the City Corporation enable it to 
provide services that are of importance to Greater London as well 
as to the City. The City Corporation’s assets (including treasury 
cash) amount to £4.8bn. Its several charities include the Bridge 
House Estates fund, which spent £66.6m in the last financial year. 
As well as maintaining the City’s bridges, the fund distributes 
additional cash through the charity City Bridge Trust with the 
object of reducing inequality and fostering more resilient and 

thriving communities.  

6. The City is divided into 25 wards. Each ward elects one Alderman 
and two or more councillors. In total it has 25 aldermen and 100 
councillors. It has approximately 3,640 employees. For 
comparison, Croydon Council (population 390,390, the most 
populous London Borough) has 70 councillors, 3,446 employees 
and a revenue budget of £300m. Westminster City Council 
(population 253,000) has 54 councillors, 2,230 employees and a 
revenue budget of £185m. Birmingham City Council (population 
1,141,186, the most populous urban local authority in the country) 
has 101 councillors, 12,453 employees and an annual budget of 
£925m. 
 

Members of the City Corporation 

7. The City Corporation operates through about 120 Committees, 
Sub-Committees and Boards. It nominates members to 63 outside 
bodies. If it is to discharge its responsibilities adequately, then the 
City Corporation must be able to attract and retain able members. 
Its members do not stand for election to the Court of Common 
Council in the expectation of remuneration: they do so out of a 
sense of public duty – though, of course, service on the City 
Corporation can bring kudos and prestige. Although charitable 
trustees and school governors are generally unpaid, the members 
of other public bodies - and certainly members of local authorities 
– are usually remunerated.  

Page 22



3 
 

8. The City is unique in expecting extensive unremunerated time 
commitments from members who bear substantial financial and 
other responsibilities. Despite the number of its members, the City 
Corporation’s meetings can be inquorate. 

9. In England outside London - despite the office of councillor being 
remunerated - it has become increasingly difficult to recruit people 
of ability who are prepared to stand for office as councillors: local 
political parties consistently report their difficulty in finding able 
candidates to serve as councillors. It is common for councillors to 
express the view that service on a council lessens the councillors’ 
prospects of promotion in their job and increases their chances of 
redundancy. The Government-appointed Councillors Commission 
(2007) noted that ‘becoming a councillor can blight a career’. As a 
result it can also damage pension prospects. With the consent of 
their employer, many employed councillors must take time off 
work (including time which is subsequently made up) if they are 
to carry out their council duties. A consequence is that councillors 
in England (outside London) are often elderly: in 2022 their 
average age was 60. 42% were aged 65 or over. Only 16% were 
aged under 45. The City Corporation does not keep a record of the 
age of its members.  

10. Unlike urban authorities in the rest of the United Kingdom, the 
City Corporation does not expect political parties to nominate 
candidates for election (with the exception of a small number of 
Labour Party nominees). Although there were several uncontested 
seats at the last (2022) City elections, we have received no evidence 
to suggest that the City faces the problems in recruiting able 
members encountered by local authorities elsewhere. British 
employers no doubt appreciate the City Corporation’s role in 
promoting the City and may be more indulgent in allowing their 
employees absence on City Corporation business.  

11. However, it may be that others who could enrich the City 
Corporation’s decision taking are deterred by the financial 
disadvantage which can result from sacrificing much time to the 
City Corporation’s affairs. Until 2021 (and unlike all other local 
authorities in England, Scotland and Wales) the 100 Common 
Councillors and 25 Aldermen were entitled to no remuneration for 
their service on the Council, though they were eligible to claim an 

Page 23



4 
 

allowance for financial loss where that was appropriate. Few 
members took advantage of this opportunity.  

12. The City Corporation’s Policy and Resources Committee was keen 
to ensure that prospective candidates for election to the Court of 
Common Council were not deterred from standing for election for 
any reason. Although City councillors receive other benefits (eg 
free meals when attending committees, free accommodation on 
City business and concessionary rates on hire of Council 
premises), the City Corporation’s Members’ Diversity Working 
Party concluded that the absence of payment served as a barrier to 
enhancing the diversity of its Councillors. It was of the view that 
the issue should be re-examined with the sole aim of improving 
diversity and inclusion. The Diversity Working Party also felt that 
any proposal should be looked at independently before it was 
progressed. Accordingly four years ago the authors of this report 
(Sir Rodney Brooke CBE and Dr Anne Watts CBE) were asked to 
examine the issue. Dr Watts is a former Chair of the [Public] 
Appointments Commission. Sir Rodney has extensive experience 
in local and public government. Both are members of the statutory 
Panel on Members’ Allowances for the London boroughs. 

13. In November 2019 we recommended that members should be 
entitled to claim an annual financial allowance. Following our 
report, the City Corporation decided to enable its members to 
claim ‘financial support’ of up to £1,875 per quarter for attendance 
at City Corporation meetings. About 70% of the 125 councillors 
and aldermen have done so.  

14. The scheme makes no provision for annual increases. The City 
Corporation does not subscribe to the national local government 
pay settlement, which in 2022-23 was £1,925 or 4.04%. The City 
Corporation’s staff pay settlement was £1,300 or 3%, with an 
additional £1,000 one-off consolidated payment. 

15. In our November 2019 report, we also recommended that it would 
be appropriate to recognise the different contributions made by 
members when the City Corporation had completed its then 
review of governance arrangements. The commissioning of this 
report is in consequence of that recommendation. Though 
members of the City Corporation can now claim ‘financial 
support’, the office-holders of the City Corporation are entitled to 

Page 24



5 
 

no further compensation for the time which they spend on City 
Corporation business.  

16. In considering what might be an appropriate level of remuneration 
for such office-holders it is relevant to consider compensation paid 
in public organisations with responsibilities similar to those of the 
City Corporation. The most obvious are the payments made to the 
members of local authorities, though, of course, the Corporation of 
the City of London exercises powers and functions which extend 
beyond those of local authorities in the remainder of the country. 
Other comparators are payments made to office-holders in public 
bodies which exercise powers similar to those of the City 
Corporation, such as those responsible for the police, the arts, 
public open spaces and markets.   
 

Payments to councillors in England  

17. In the UK outside the City local government councillors have been 
remunerated for their duties for many years. The City Corporation 
was unique in making no payment (other than expenses) to its 
members until it introduced the current remuneration scheme in 
2021.  

18. The allowances currently paid to members of other local 
authorities (in accordance with statute) include a basic allowance 
available to all councillors in recognition of the time they give. In 
addition to the basic allowance, a special responsibility allowance 
is available to certain councillors (eg Leader, Deputy Leader, 
Cabinet members, Chairs of certain committees, Opposition Group 
Leaders and Whips) to reflect their additional duties. About half 
the members of the average local authority can expect to receive 
special responsibility allowances on top of their basic allowance.  

19. The City Corporation, with a resident population of less than 
10,000, has 125 members, more than twice as many as a typical 
London Borough. In the most populous British local authority, 
Birmingham, 101 members each represent an average of 10,000 
constituents. Councillors in a large London borough like Croydon 
represent about 6,500 constituents. Though most City of London 
members do not have the volume of constituency duties expected 
from a councillor in a typical local authority nor the 
accountabilities arising from the provision of services to a large 

Page 25



6 
 

population, they do have a range of responsibilities extending 
beyond those undertaken in the typical local authority – eg police, 
major markets, the Barbican Arts Centre and substantial open 
spaces like Hampstead Heath. Just as almost all local authorities 
believe that they have a role in protecting their local economy, the 
City also sees itself as protecting and promoting the financial 
services industry in London and more generally. 

20. In England there is no national scheme for payment to councillors. 
Outside London every English local authority must appoint an 
independent panel whose advice must be sought and considered 
(though not necessarily adopted) before setting councillors’ 
allowances. The amounts paid to councillors in the larger local 
authorities are broadly consistent with (though rather less than) 
those paid in Wales and Scotland, where members’ allowances are 
fixed nationally. In Birmingham, for example, the Leader was 
entitled in 2022-23 to annual allowances totalling £75,455. The 
Lord Mayor of Birmingham receives an annual allowance of 
£32,348. Birmingham councillors receive a basic annual allowance 
of £18,876. In Manchester the basic annual allowance is £18,841. 

21. Elected Metro Mayors in England (outside London) receive 
salaries of between £65,000 (North of Tyne, Tees Valley and West 
of England) and £110,000 (Greater Manchester). Elected City 
Mayors (outside London) receive salaries of between £50,000 
(Copeland) and £83,569 (Bristol). 

22. In London a statutory panel recommends allowances for London 
borough councillors. As in the rest of England, the local authority 
is not obliged to accept the recommendations of the Panel, but 
must consider them before setting the rates of payment. The 
London Panel currently recommends an annual basic allowance 
for London borough councillors of £15,960 (though this has yet to 
be considered by the boroughs) and an annual special 
responsibility allowance of £64,602 for the Leader of a London 
Borough Council, ie a total for the Leader of £80,562.  

23. Other office-holders in a London Borough Council are 
recommended to receive commensurately smaller sums: a cabinet 
member is recommended to receive up to £47,271 pa plus the basic 
allowance of £15,960; chair of a scrutiny or regulatory committee 
up to £32,450 pa plus the basic allowance; a vice chair £10,218 pa 

Page 26



7 
 

plus the basic allowance. Among London Borough Councils there 
has been substantial convergence towards an annual basic 
allowance at around £11,000. However the special responsibility 
allowances for leading members vary greatly and usually fall 
somewhat short of the Panel’s recommendations. In 2023-24 in the 
Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea, for example, the annual 
basic allowance is £11,027 and the Leader’s annual allowance 
£56,429, a total of £67,456.  

24. The London Panel recommends an annual special responsibility 
allowance of £96,375 for London Borough elected mayors. Five 
London boroughs (Croydon, Hackney, Lewisham, Newham and 
Tower Hamlets) currently have elected mayors, whose 
remuneration varies from £77,792 to £87,997pa. Remuneration for 
elected mayors has proved less controversial than allowances to 
councillors since the amount is not fixed by the recipients but by 
the host Council. 

25. Research shows that the ‘average’ back-bench councillor in a major 
local authority spends more than 20 hours a week on 
‘constituency’ business. Leading members in major authorities will 
often spend more than 35 hours a week on their local authority 
duties.  

26. Despite this time commitment and the important nature of their 
duties, increases in councillors’ allowances often arouse political 
controversy. The City of Westminster – historically paying less 
than the amounts paid by other boroughs and those recommended 
by the London Panel - recently increased its Basic Allowance for 
2023-24 to £10,186 and the Leader’s Special Responsibility 
Allowance to £41,612, a total of £51,798. These increased 
allowances are still substantially lower than those recommended 
by the independent London Panel and those paid in neighbouring 
authorities like Kensington & Chelsea and Camden. Nevertheless 
the increases prompted some controversy, including a critical 
comment from the Prime Minister.  
 

Payments to Mayor of London and Assembly members 

27. The Mayor of [Greater] London is paid £154,963 pa and the 
Deputy Mayor £107,408 pa. The Chair of the London Assembly is 

Page 27



8 
 

paid £72,454 pa. Other members of the Assembly are paid £60,416 
pa.   
 

Payments to Councillors in Scotland and Wales 

28. In Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland national bodies prescribe 
payments to councillors. In 2023-24 in Scotland (where councils 
have up to 85 members) a councillor receives an annual basic 
allowance of £20,099. The leaders of the largest local authorities 
receive an annual allowance of £60,304 as well as the £20,099 basic 
allowance, ie a total of £80,403.  

29. In 2023-24 in Wales (where councils have up to 79 members) a 
councillor receives an annual basic allowance of £17,600 and the 
leader of the larger authorities an annual special responsibility 
allowance of £66,000, ie £83,600 including the basic allowance.  

30. In Northern Ireland councillors receive an annual basic allowance 
of £16,394. 
 

Other comparators 

31. Though its resident population is relatively small, the Corporation 
of the City of London exercises powers and functions which 
extend far beyond those of other local authorities. The nature of 
the City’s powers and responsibilities suggest other comparators 
for members’ remuneration. 
 

Members of Parliament 

32. From 1 April 2023 the basic annual salary for a Member of 
Parliament is £86,584. A Parliamentary Under-Secretary of State is 
entitled to an additional £24,947; a Minister of State an additional 
£31,680; and a Cabinet Minister an additional £67,505.   Unlike 
councillors, MPs are also entitled to a pension and to a loss-of-
office payment if they lose their seat. 

 
Police 

33. The annual salary of £198,264 enjoyed by the Police Commissioner 
of the City of London Police reflects the importance of the role and 
the duties of the City Police Force. It is among the highest enjoyed 
by any chief constable: the salary is almost the equivalent of the 

Page 28



9 
 

salaries paid to the Chief Constables of Greater Manchester and 
the West Midlands (the two most populous police authorities 
outside London) who each receive £199,386.  

34. The Greater London Police is accountableto the Home Secretary 
and to the Mayor of London. Outside London chief constables and 
their forces are answerable to elected Police Commissioners who 
fulfil the role assigned to the Police Committee in the City. In West 
Yorkshire and Greater Manchester the elected Mayors act as the 
local Police and Crime Commissioner. Elsewhere the Police 
Commissioners in the most populous authorities like the West 
Midlands enjoy annual salaries of £100,000. There is no equivalent 
role in the City of London: the function is discharged by the 
chairman and members of the City’s Police Authority Board. 
 

National Park Authorities 

35. The City of London owns and maintains significant open spaces 
like Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest. They are, of course, far 
smaller than the country’s national parks but arguably provide an 
equivalent function for those who live in London. Of course the 
City Corporation has very different functions to the National Park 
authorities: the latter are the planning authorities for the area of 
the National Park. They do not own the land in the national parks, 
unlike the City, which owns Hampstead Heath and Epping Forest. 
Ownership clearly imposes additional responsibilities. And, of 
course, members of appointed bodies are not elected, but selected 
for their abilities and experience.  

36. The members of a Welsh National Park Authority receive an 
annual basic allowance of £4,964. The chair’s annual allowance is 
£13,764. A deputy chair or committee chair receives an annual 
salary of £8,704.  

37. Members of the Lake District and Yorkshire Dales National Park 
authorities receive an annual basic allowance of £3,000. The Chair 
receives an annual special responsibility allowance of £6,000 and 
the Deputy Chairs £4,500. Other special responsibility allowances 
are appropriately less.  

38. In the South Downs National Park the annual basic allowance is 
£3,836.97. The Chair of the authority receives an annual special 
responsibility allowance of £6,938, Deputy Chair of the Authority 

Page 29



10 
 

£5,179.65, Chair of Planning Committee £4,143.93, Deputy Chair of 
Planning Committee £1,035.72, Chair of the Policy and Resources 
Committee £2,302.18 and Deputy Chair of Policy and Resources 
Committee £345.58. 

39. The Broads Authority pays an annual basic allowance of £1,046. 
The Chair of the Authority receives £3,925 per annum.  
 
NHS Trusts and Housing Associations 

40. All NHS Trusts and Foundation Trusts pay their external, 
independent non-executive directors. Chairs can receive up to 
£63,000 a year. Other members can earn up to £13,000 pa. The non-
executive director responsible for finance is often given an 
additional reward. Pay at ‘ordinary’ Trusts is set centrally by NHS 
Improvement. Pay at the more autonomous Foundation Trusts is 
set locally and is usually higher than the payments to Chairs of 
‘ordinary’ NHS trusts.  

41. Whilst Housing Associations also rely on volunteer committee 
members, nearly all the 60 largest housing associations remunerate 
their board members, who might expect annual pay of up to 
£20,000. Chairs might expect up to £40,000 or more in the larger 
associations, though the range is significant.  
 

Trustees of Charities  

42. Charity trustees are generally unpaid. A charity trustee may only 
be paid for serving as a trustee where this is clearly in the interests 
of the charity and provides a significant advantage over all other 
options. There is no general power in law for payment to trustees - 
a charity must have a specific authority to pay its trustees. This 
could be found in its governing document or provided by the 
Charity Commission, or, more rarely, by the courts.  

43. However 16 of the UK’s largest 100 charities, including Nuffield 
Health, the Wellcome Trust, the Salvation Army and the General 
Medical Council all pay one or more of their non-executives.   
 

School Governors 

44. Governors of maintained schools are not paid unless they are part 
of an interim executive board (IEB), an expert governing board 
that has been brought in to help a struggling school.   

Page 30



11 
 

45. Governors of private schools are also generally unpaid. The 
constitution of the governing body of a private school might, 
however, provide for payment. For example, the Chair of the Girls’ 
Day School Trust (a charity responsible for 25 schools including 
twelve in London) was advertised recently. It required attendance 
for three days per month and offered an annual salary of £30,000. 
The GDST is, of course, rather different to a single school 
governing body in that it governs not one but 25 schools. 
 

Universities 

46. A few universities pay the lay chair of their governing body (in a 
range of £15,000 to £25,000 per year) and two also pay committee 
chairs (an annual maximum of £7,500 each). Most members of 
university governing bodies are unpaid.  

47. Under new legislation, upon request of the incoming chair Scottish 
universities must pay chairs and two currently do so. The likely 
range will be £16k to £27k per annum. 
 

Markets 

48. Historically markets were granted by Royal franchise to the Lord 
of the Manor or to the local authority. Though local authorities are 
still the main provider of markets, more recently commercial 
operators have created ‘markets’. Thus Portobello Market is run by 
the Royal Borough of Kensington & Chelsea but Camden Market is 
privately owned.  

49. Borough Market is a charity run by unpaid trustees. The New 
Covent Garden Market Authority is a statutory corporation with a 
turnover of £650m. Non-executive directors of the Covent Garden 
Market are paid £520 per diem, with a time commitment of 2-3 
days per month, ie around £15,000 pa. The largest indoor retail 
market in the country (and, indeed, in Europe) is in Leeds and 
owned by the Council, where cabinet members receive an annual 
allowance of £42,490 (including the basic allowance).  

50. The scale of the City’s wholesale markets – Smithfield, Spitalfields 
and Billingsgate - dwarfs other markets. In 2027 Smithfield and 
Billingsgate will be relocated from their original sites and 
combined in a new 42-acre wholesale mega-market at the former 

Page 31

https://www.standard.co.uk/news/london/plans-smithfield-billingsgate-new-spitalfields-markets-dagenham-approved-b925764.html


12 
 

coal port of Dagenham Dock. The Corporation’s Markets Board is 
responsible for the markets. It has an annual income of £2,777m. 
 

Time commitments of City office-holders 

51. The importance and responsibility of an office may not be reflected 
in the time commitment required to discharge its duties. 
Nevertheless the time commitment is one measure and most 
obviously can impact on the ability of the officeholder to devote 
time to lucrative employment elsewhere. 

52. Officers of the City have provided us with estimates of the time 
expected from the Chairs of the City Corporation’s major 
committees and boards. The hours indicated relate only to formal 
meetings, their preparation and consequences. It is to be expected 
that many of these roles will also require a time commitment – 
sometimes very substantial - outside the requirements imposed by 
formal meetings. Other roles, such as that of the Chief Commoner, 
also require substantial time commitments outside formal 
meetings. Many of the roles have substantial financial 
responsibilities. The most demanding committee roles, requiring 
dedication of more than 30 hours annually in meetings (with the 
estimated annual number of hours required by meetings and their 
consequences), are: 

240 Policy & Resources Committee 

168 Police Authority Board*  

141.5 Finance Committee 

126 Planning & Transportation Committee 

98 Epping Forest & Commons Committee 

68.75 Hampstead Heath, Highgate Wood and Queen’s Park Committee 

65 Community & Children’s Services Committee 

63.5 Board of Governors of the City Of London Freemen’s School 

63.5 Board of Governors of the City of London School 

59.25 Port Health & Environmental Services Committee 

58.5 Barbican Centre Board* 

57.5 Culture, Heritage and Libraries Committee 

57.5 Planning Applications Sub-Committee 

Page 32



13 
 

54.75 Gresham (City Side) Committee  

51.5 Board of Governors of the City of London School for Girls 

43 Education Board 

34.75 Audit and Risk Management 

33.5 Markets Board 

33 Digital Services Committee 

32.5 Health and Wellbeing Board 

30 Pensions Committee 

* Bodies marked with * also have sub-committees chaired by the 

chair of the main Committee. 

53. As well as the bodies listed above, there are the Corporate Services 
Committee, the Licensing Committee, the Natural Environment 
Board and the West Ham Park Committee. 

54. Of course the figures above are a crude measure and represent only 
the time commitment arising from meetings of the body itself. With 
the exception of the Chair of the Policy & Resources Committee, 
they take no regard of the time required by informal meetings and 
visits outside the formal committee process. Moreover membership 
of one body may also require attendance at another. Thus the Chair 
of the Financial Investment Board (who is also Chair of the 
Diversity & Inclusion Sub-Committee) is required by his investment 
role also to attend the Finance and the Policy & Resources 
Committees as well, of course, as the nine meetings of the Court of 
Common Council. In total his commitments (including chair’s 
briefings) take about 20 hours per week. 

55. The figures do not necessarily capture the policy and financial 
importance of the issues considered. Though the time required of 
the Chair of the Policy & Resources Committee is substantial, it 
cannot fully reflect the importance of the role in leading the City 
Corporation’s work on issues which have a major impact on the 
UK’s financial and related professional services sector. The Chair 
must develop strong ties with political representatives and business 
leaders across London, the UK and internationally to ensure the 
City remains a world leading global financial centre. The role also 
covers the City Corporation’s responsibilities as a local authority, 

Page 33



14 
 

overseeing the governing body’s open spaces, educational 
commitments and cultural institutions.  

After consulting with members of the City Council, we identified the 
following questions:  

1. Do you agree that the position of Lord Mayor of London should 
continue to be unpaid? 

2. Do you believe that City Corporation members holding 
responsible positions should be remunerated for their 
responsibilities?  

3. If so, should their remuneration be based on the significance of the 
post rather than on the hours required? If so, how would you rank 
the importance of the chair of the 17 (20 less the three boards of 
governors of City schools) bodies above, taking the Chair of the 
Policy and Resources Committee as 100? - eg Chair of the Police 
Authority Board 75, Chair of the Finance Committee 70 etc.  

4. Are there posts (other than those listed above) which should be 
considered for remuneration – eg the Chief Commoner? If so, how 
do you think they should be ranked as suggested in 3 above? 

5. Do you think that the amount of remuneration of aldermen and 
councillors should be consistent with the remuneration paid to 
local authority councillors elsewhere? If not, what other basis can 
you suggest? 

6. Do you agree that the chair of the Boards of the City’s charities and 
schools should conform to most practice elsewhere and not be 
remunerated? 

56. We met with seven senior members identified by the Council – the 
Chief Commoner and the Chairs of the Barbican Centre and Civic 
Affairs Committees, Community and Children’s Services 
Committee, Finance Committee, Policy Committee, General 
Purposes Committee, and the Equality and Diversity and Inclusion 
Committee. We also met with backbenchers and the Town Clerk, 
the Chamberlain and the Remembrancer. We gained greatly from 
our conversations with the participants, who were remarkably 
consistent in their views. However, the recommendations in this 
report are entirely our own. 

57. The City Corporation is not a ‘normal’ local authority, though some 
of the roles assumed by members of the City Corporation (like the 

Page 34



15 
 

Chair of the Community and Children’s Services Committee) are 
akin to similar roles carried out in local authorities elsewhere. 
Others (like the Chair of Policy and Resources and the Chief 
Commoner) are substantially different in the nature of their 
responsibilities or in their scale. In making our recommendations, 
we had in mind the payments made to members of the public 
bodies described in this report. Nevertheless we found that the 
most convenient, understandable and immediate comparators were 
with the allowances made to senior members of local authorities 
and, in particular, to senior members of the London boroughs (see 
Appendix). 

58. Of course, the work of the City Corporation extends beyond the 
City’s physical boundaries: it spreads over the metropolis and 
provides services on which London and the wider area depend. It is 
also a physical representation of the financial services industry. We 
were impressed with the way in which some of the antiquarian 
practices of the City Corporation, stemming from the Middle Ages, 
have been adapted to modern life over the last few years, while 
maintaining the unique traditions and pageantry of the City of 
London.  

59. The members whom we met often bore no resemblance to a 
stereotypical City character. We were told that ‘until recently 
councillors had often been retired but this was changing’. Until the 
relatively recent introduction of modest remuneration, members of 
the City Corporation willingly surrendered their time in the 
interests of the City, its residents, Greater London and the country 
as a whole. One joined the City Corporation because she ‘wanted to 
make a difference’. Another wanted ‘an entry into politics’. The City 
Corporation members were consistently motivated by a 
commitment to public welfare and the prosperity of the metropolis. 
Among the comments we received were ‘Although the City 
Corporation was steeped in antiquarian practice, it did seem to 
work’. Others thought that some of the City’s operations should be 
streamlined and the generosity of hospitality curtailed. We were 
also told that although ‘UK institutions are generous in allowing 
time off for City duties, the same is often not true of foreign-owned 
institutions.’ 

60. But it is necessary to ask whether (unlike other local authorities and 
many other public bodies) the City, its residents and the economy 

Page 35



16 
 

should continue to rely on the unpaid labour of its members and the 
sacrifices they make in order to serve the City. Even more 
importantly, it is necessary to consider how the absence of any 
financial compensation for the time spent on City business might 
exclude many members of society who could make a valuable 
contribution to the City’s undertakings and influence. Among those 
whom we consulted we found a remarkable consensus that elected 
members holding the major City Corporation offices should be 
compensated for the time which they surrendered to the City, 
though views on the levels of compensation varied substantially. 

61. In considering our recommendations for an appropriate level of 
remuneration we have had regard to the views we received and to 
the comparators mentioned above. We have usually found it most 
convenient and understandable to relate them to the 
recommendations of the London Panel on Members’ Allowances, 
though throughout having in mind the substantial differences 
between the City Corporation’s activities and organisation and 
those of the typical London borough.  

62. For London boroughs the statutory panel recommends an annual 
Special Responsibility Allowance of £93,575 for an elected mayor; 
for the leader £81,513 including the basic allowance of £15,960 
recommended to be payable to all members;  for cabinet members 
and chairs of the main overview or scrutiny committee £39,860 to 
£47,271 plus the basic allowance; for chair of major regulatory 
committees and scrutiny chairs £17,628 to £32,450 plus the basic 
allowance; and for vice chairs and chairs of sub-committees 
between £2,807 and £10,218 plus the basic allowance. The allowance 
for mayors (other than elected mayors) falls outside the Members’ 
Allowances Scheme and the recommendations of the Panel. Though 
over the years there has been substantial convergence on the 
amounts recommended by the Panel, most boroughs pay rather less 
than the recommended amounts. 
 

Consideration 

The Lord Mayor.  

64. The office of Lord Mayor is a symbol of the City and its history. 
During the year of office, the Lord Mayor must undertake the 
historic constitutional, ceremonial and traditional duties of the 

Page 36



17 
 

office. The Lord Mayor promotes the City of London and its 
institutions to the world. An honorary role, it is regarded as a 
great honour for the office-holder and attracts able candidates. 
The office is surrounded by pomp, pageantry and ceremony. 
Within the City’s boundaries, only the Sovereign takes 
precedence. The Lord Mayor hosts visiting heads of state, heads of 
government and other foreign dignitaries on behalf of His Majesty 
and HM Government. Often – though not now automatically – the 
Lord Mayor is rewarded with a national honour at the end of the 
year of service. Given that the post is non-executive – and because 
of the prestige which attaches to it – our consultees did not feel 
that the office of the Lord Mayor should be rewarded financially. 
We accept that it could be seen as inappropriate for such a 
ceremonial (though symbolically most important) role to be 
remunerated. The issue could be reconsidered if the issue were to 
be raised by a prospective incumbent who would find it difficult 
to accept the role without remuneration. The same arguments 
apply to the two sheriffs appointed by the City Council. Sheriffs 
elsewhere in England are unremunerated. 
 

Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee.  

65. The Chair of the Policy and Resources Committee is the City of 
London’s spokesperson for the City and its financial services 
industry, crucial to the nation’s vitality and prosperity. The Chair 
must develop strong ties with political representatives and 
business leaders across London, the UK and internationally to 
ensure the City remains a world leading global financial centre. 
The Chair must engage with financial institutions both in this 
country and overseas, represent the City to the British 
government and its political parties and maintain the position of 
the City of London as a main financial centre.  

66. The Chair must take overall responsibility for the City’s budget. 
The role also includes the City Corporation’s responsibilities as a 
local authority, overseeing the governing body’s open spaces, 
educational commitments and cultural institutions. The 
incumbent must also take overall responsibility for the services 
provided by the City and for its policies. The position requires a 
high level of ability and eloquence. The incumbents must devote 
their time to the City Corporation for five years without 

Page 37



18 
 

remuneration (other than the annual £7,500 allowance to which all 
City Council members are entitled). The Chair is effectively the 
Leader of the Council, which might be an appropriate title for the 
post. 

67. All those to whom we talked were very clear that the Chair of the 
Policy and Resources Committee has a role which is more than 
full time and cannot be combined with anything approaching a 
‘normal’ job. This is a sacrifice few can afford to make for the 
period of five years during which the office is normally held 
(although subject to annual re-election). It is clearly essential for 
the City, for London and, indeed, for the nation, that a sufficiently 
able person should be enabled to take on the role and have 
enough time to devote to it. It is asking a great deal to expect the 
incumbents to devote themselves to the role for five years without 
remuneration. Moreover the absence of any remuneration must 
exclude many who could discharge the post with distinction and 
prevent many potential candidates from contemplating the 
assumption of the responsibilities of the post. It is, we believe, 
unreasonable to expect the post to be undertaken without 
recompense. We are clear that the City can no longer expect 
unpaid service for such a vital role. 

68. In this report we have identified the remuneration of members of 
a variety of public bodies. One relevant comparator is the Mayor 
of [Greater] London, who enjoys an annual salary of £154,963. He 
has a budget of £17bn, which supports investment in public 
transport, fire services and policing. The Greater London Mayor 
also seeks to influence higher education and investment in the 
metropolis. 

69. Another comparator which we believe relevant is the 
remuneration of £92,613 recommended by the independent 
London Panel for the elected mayor of a London borough. Unlike 
a London borough elected mayor, the Chair of the City 
Corporation’s Policy and Resources Committee does not have 
direct executive responsibility for providing local government 
services to 250,000 or more residents. But this is outweighed by 
the importance of the role to the financial services industry and to 
the City’s prosperity. Though the £92,613 recommended payment 
to a London borough elected mayor is a substantial sum, it is less 
than the salary paid to a Minister of State or even to the Chair of a 

Page 38



19 
 

Parliamentary Select Committee. It is certainly substantially less 
than the salary expected by a city financier whose earnings might 
be influenced by the success of the Chair of the Policy and 
Resources Committee in his advocacy of the City’s financial 
industry. We recommend that the Chair of the Policy Committee 
be remunerated at the annual rate of £90,000. 
 

Chair of the Finance Committee.  

70. The finances of the City Corporation are necessarily complex. Its 
revenue budget approaches £500m. It is responsible for nearly 
£5bn of assets. It has an ambitious capital programme. The Chair 
of the Finance Committee has to manage the continuing financial 
effects of the post-Covid environment and cope with the problems 
of inflation. The incumbent must find strategies which maintain 
and enhance the financial strength of the City Corporation. The 
budget must create headroom for capital spending which bring 
economic, policy and service benefits and maintain a renewed 
vision for the Square Mile. The role demands not only a 
substantial time commitment but also responsibility for the future 
stability of the City Corporation and its funds. The responsibilities 
are certainly not less than those of the chair of the Finance 
Committee of a London borough, whose recommended special 
responsibility allowance is £62,000. We recommend that the Chair 
of the Finance Committee be remunerated at the rate of £62,000. 
 

Chair of the Police Authority Board.  

71. According to the information supplied to us, the Chair of the 
Police Authority Board, which has five committees, has the most 
time-consuming role other than that of the Chair of the Policy and 
Resources Committee. Elsewhere in the country a chief constable 
is answerable to an elected Police Commissioner (with an annual 
salary of up to £100,000) or to an elected mayor.  Although formal 
accountability for the City Police is vested in the City’s Police 
Committee, inevitably substantial responsibility rests with the 
Chair of that Committee.  

72. And although the resident population served by the City is tiny, 
its daytime population is not. The extent of its national 
responsibilities for cybercrime and fraud are substantial and 
recognised by the salary paid to the City’s Police Commissioner. 

Page 39



20 
 

The remuneration recommended for the leader of a London 
borough is £62,092, excluding the basic allowance to which every 
London borough councillor is entitled. This is certainly not 
disproportionate to the responsibilities carried by the Chair of the 
Police Committee. Although (unlike the Police Commissioners 
elsewhere) the Chair shares accountability with members of the 
Police Committee, it is inevitable that considerable responsibility 
(and workload) rests with the Chair.  We recommend that the 
Chair of the Police Committee be remunerated at the rate of 
£62,000. 
 

Chair of the Planning and Transportation Committee 

73. The Chair of the Planning and Transportation Committee has a 
demanding role, often dealing with matters of national 
importance and some controversy, given the unique situation of 
the City of London, its architecture and its history. We 

recommend that the Chair of the Planning and Transportation 
Committee be remunerated at the rate of £62,000.  
 

The Chief Commoner. 

74. The role of Chief Commoner was established in 1444. The 
incumbent holds office for one year only, acts as a counsellor 
when required, supervises the training and development of 
members, arbitrates in disputes and promotes the role of the City 
Corporation. The Chief Commoner takes the lead in matters of 
City hospitality. The role as currently expected and performed is 
effectively full-time. We recommend that the Chief Commoner be 
remunerated at the rate of £32,500.  

 
 Chair of the Community & Children’s Services Committee 

75. The formal meetings of the Community and Children’s Services 
Committee are time-consuming. But the time requirements of the 
post outside the formal meetings are substantially greater. The 
Chair estimates that she spends 40 hours per week on her duties 
as chair. However, the responsibilities of the post are not 
measured only by the time devoted to them. They are significant 
and epitomised by the consequences if something goes wrong: if 
the social care service fails to intervene in timely fashion in cases 
of abuse the consequences can be devastating. The Chair carries 

Page 40



21 
 

that responsibility. We recommend that the Chair of the 
Community and Children’s Services Committee be remunerated 
at the rate of £47,000. 
 

Chair of the Epping Forest & Commons Committee 

76. The City Corporation are owners and the conservators of Epping 
Forest, London’s largest open space, used for the enjoyment and 
recreation of the public. Governed by the Epping Forest Act of 
1878, much of it is protected as a site of special scientific interest 
or a special area of conservation. Its management requires time, 
dedication and sensitivity. We recommend that the Chair of the 
Epping Forest and Commons Committee be remunerated at the 
rate of £47,000. 
 

Chair of the Hampstead Heath, Highgate Wood and Queen’s Park 
Committee. 

77. Hampstead Heath is an iconic feature of London’s life and culture. 
Mr Pickwick himself speculated on the source of the Hampstead 
Ponds. Its management requires a sensitive balance between the 
enjoyment of visitors, the demands of different user groups and 
the conservation of the Heath. On a lesser scale, so do Highgate 
Wood and Queen’s Park. We recommend that the Chair of the 
Hampstead Heath, Highgate Wood and Queen’s Park Committee 
be remunerated at the rate of £47,000. 

 
Chair of the Port Health and Environmental Services Committee 

78. The Chair of this Committee has extensive functions which are 
akin to those of the chair of a similar committee in a London 
borough: licensing, public conveniences, street cleansing, refuse 
collection, environmental health, trading standards and the 
management and operation of the Cemetery and Crematorium.  In 
addition the Committee is responsible for overseeing Animal 
Health, including the Heathrow Animal Reception Centre. 20% of 
the nation’s food comes through the Port Health authority. We 

recommend that the post be remunerated at the rate of £47,000. 
 

Chair of the Culture, Heritage and Libraries Committee 

Page 41



22 
 

79. The Culture, Heritage and Libraries Committee is responsible for 
the City of London Corporation’s activities and services in the 
field of culture, heritage and visitors. These include the Guildhall 
Galleries, the City of London Police Museum, London’s Roman 
Amphitheatre, the Monument, Tower Bridge, the Harold Samuel 
Collection, the Billingsgate Roman House and Baths, the City 
Information Centre, Keats House and the City’s Outdoor Arts 
programme. It is also responsible for the City’s libraries and 
archives. It is comparable to a very high-powered Culture 
Committee of a London borough. We recommend that the post be 
remunerated at the rate of £47,000. 
 

 Chair of the Gresham (City Side) Committee 

80. The Gresham (City Side) Committee is responsible (with the 
Mercers’ side) for managing the Gresham estate including the 
Royal Exchange and the Gresham Almshouses. It appoints a 
representative to the Council of Gresham College. Its meetings 
require the Chair to devote 54.75 annual hours to its meetings. We 

recommend that the post be remunerated at the rate of £32,500. 
 

Chair of the Audit and Risk Management Committee 

81. The Audit and Risk Management Committee oversees the City 
Corporation’s systems of internal control and makes 
recommendations to the City’s Finance Committee on the 
approval of the annual statement of accounts. Given the extent of 
the City Corporation’s activities, the Committee carries a heavy 
responsibility for the sustainability of its services and finances. We 

recommend that the post be remunerated at the rate of £32,500. 
 

 Chair of the Markets Board 

82. The Markets Board is responsible for the City’s three great 
markets: Billingsgate, Smithfield and Spitalfields. Billingsgate is 
the largest inland fish market in the country. Smithfield is the 
largest wholesale meat market in the country. Spitalfields has the 
highest number of wholesale traders of any horticultural market 
in the UK and claims to give the greatest choice of products of any 
market in Europe. Billingsgate and Smithfield markets are to 
relocate to a new site in Dagenham as part of a £1 billion project. 

Page 42



23 
 

Given the responsibility vested in the chair of the Committee, we 

recommend that the post be remunerated at the rate of £32,500. 
 

Chair of the Digital Services Committee 

83. The Digital Services Committee reviews the objectives and needs 
for the provision of Information System services in the City of 
London. Specifically it contemplates the risks involved. We 

recommend that the post be remunerated at the rated of £17,500. 
 

Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board 

84. The Board is responsible for providing collective leadership for 
the general advancement of the health and wellbeing of the 
people within the City of London, promoting the integration of 
health and social care services, identifying key priorities for health 
and local government and producing a Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy. We recommend that the post be remunerated 
at the rated of £17,500. 
 

Chair of the Pensions Committee 

85. The Committee is responsible (on behalf of the City Corporation 
and nine other active employers) for administration of the City of 
London Local Government Pension Scheme. The net assets of the 
Fund are around £1,301m. We recommend that the post be 
remunerated at the rate of £17,500. 
 

Deputy Chair of the Policy & Resources Committee. 

86. The weighty and vital duties of the Chair of the Policy & 
Resources Committee and the Chair’s frequent absences on City 
business inevitably result in the assumption of some of his 
functions by the Deputy Chair of the Committee. We recommend 

that the post be remunerated at the rate of £32,500. 
 

Chair of the Corporate Services Committee 

87. The City’s Corporate Services Committee is responsible for 
personnel and establishment matters, including negotiations with 
the recognised trade unions. In addition it is the service committee 
for the Departments of the Town Clerk and the Comptroller and 

Page 43



24 
 

City Solicitor. We recommend that the post be remunerated at the 
rate of £17,500. 
 

Chair of the Licensing Committee 

88. The Licensing Committee is responsible for licensing the sale of 
alcohol, regulated entertainment and late night refreshment. We 

recommend that the post be remunerated at the rate of £8,500. 
 

Chair of the West Ham Park Committee 

89. The West Ham Park Committee is responsible for the 
management of West Ham Park, which is the first open space to 
be purchased by the City of London Corporation in 1874. The 
park is of such significance that it is on the National Register of 
Historic Parks. The committee is responsible for ensuring that the 
park is well-maintained and offers a wide range of activities, such 
as health walks, cricket pitches and nets, tennis courts, football 
pitches, and athletics for people of all ages. It also has a large 
themed children’s playground. We recommend that the post be 
remunerated at the rate of £8,500. 
 

Chair of the Natural Environment Board 

90. The Board is responsible for the delivery of the 2022/23 Open 
Spaces Business Plan. We recommend that the post be 
remunerated at the rate of £8,500. 
 

Chair of the Barbican Centre Board 

91. The chair of the Barbican Centre Board estimates that he spends a 
day a week on his responsibilities. This seems a not unreasonable 
estimate for the time required, bearing in mind his responsibilities 
for an enterprise which is a major presence in the national arts 
scene and has an annual budget of £20m. However, some at least 
of that time commitment can no doubt be made outside normal 
working hours. There are, of course, non-financial benefits from 
such a role. It is generally not the practice for the chair and boards 
of public cultural institutions to be remunerated for their 
responsibilities. It would be anomalous if the chair of the Barbican 
Board were remunerated when those occupying similar positions 
elsewhere are not. Though we recognise the importance and the 

Page 44

https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=400
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=400
https://democracy.cityoflondon.gov.uk/mgCommitteeDetails.aspx?ID=400


25 
 

demands of the post, we do not recommend that it be 
remunerated. 
 

Chair of the City charities, City of London School, Education Board 
for the City-sponsored academies and other school governing bodies.  

92. Similar considerations apply to the chair of the governing bodies 
of the charities and schools run by the City Corporation, including 
the City Bridge Trust and the Board for the ten City-sponsored 
academies. Though we recognise the hours often demanded by 
such posts, they are not generally remunerated elsewhere. It 
would be anomalous if the chair of the charity, school governing 
bodies and the Academies Trust run by the City Corporation were 
remunerated when those occupying similar positions elsewhere 
were not.  
 

City charities 

93. As we have noted, the chairs of the Hampstead Heath and Epping 
Forest Committees spend considerable time on their 
responsibilities – which would justify the remuneration which we 
have recommended. That remuneration would be funded by the 
City Corporation, would not use the funds of the relevant charity 
and would be recorded in the City Council’s accounts. As such it 
would be within the law. It might, however, seem anomalous that 
such payments were made in respect of charities which are 
otherwise self-funding. We understand that the City Council is 
undertaking a review of the City’s charities. We recognise the 
complexities of the situation and recommend that our 
recommendations for remuneration of the chairs of the City’s 
charities be considered when the Corporate Charities review has 
been concluded. 
 

General 

94. We realise that the figures recommended above represent a 
substantial change in the approach to remuneration of City 
Corporation members. The present incumbents of the positions 
we describe accepted them without thought of remuneration. We 
nevertheless believe that the figures are realistic, recognise the 
unique role of the City Corporation and are consistent with 
remuneration in the world of local government. In total [£769,000] 

Page 45



26 
 

they are comparable to the special responsibility allowances paid 
in London boroughs such as Croydon [£540,000], bearing in mind 
the special responsibilities of the City Corporation. We believe 
that it is important that the remuneration of office-holders should 
commence in the 2024-25 financial year so that potential 
candidates for the 2025 elections to the City Corporation can take 
into account their financial situation when considering their 
candidature. At that time the City Corporation should also 
consider updating the annual allowance of £7,500 payable to all 
members of the City Corporation. 

95. We recommend that the figures for remuneration which we 
recommend should be updated annually in accordance with the 
recommendations made by the Panel for the Members’ 
Allowances of the London boroughs. 

96. Though our remit - and therefore our recommendations - are 
confined to the remuneration of members of the City Corporation, 
we believe that since the culture of the Corporation is changing, it 
should also consider other measures which could widen the pool 
of candidates for the possibility of service on the Corporation, 
including such arrangements as maternity leave and evening 
meetings.  

Anne Watts 
Rodney Brooke 

December 2023 

  

Page 46



27 
 

Appendix 

Current 2023 recommendations from the London Panel on members’ allowances 

The Basic allowance: £15,960 

Special responsibilities – beyond the basic allowance 

Calculation of special allowances  

The proposed amounts for each band are a percentage of the figure suggested for a council 

leader depending upon levels of responsibility of the roles undertaken and are explained 

below.  

BAND ONE  

The posts that the Panel  envisages falling within band one, include:  

• Vice chair of a service, regulatory or scrutiny committee  

• Chair of sub-committee  

• Leader of second or smaller opposition group  

• Service spokesperson for first opposition group  

• First opposition group whip (in respect of council business) 

 • Vice chair of council business  

• Chairs, vice chairs, area committees and forums  

• Cabinet assistant   

• Acting as a member of a committee or sub-committee which meets with exceptional 

frequency or for exceptionally long periods  

• Acting as a member of an adoption panel where membership requires attendance 

with exceptional frequency or for exceptionally long periods  

• Leadership of a specific major project. 

Remuneration 

The Panel proposes that band one special responsibility allowances should be on a sliding 

scale of between 5-15% per cent of theLeader’s SRA. 

This would be made up as follows:  

Basic allowance: £15,960 

Band One allowance: £3,105 - £9,314 

Total:  £19,065 - £25,274 

BAND TWO  

The Panel considers that the types of office being within band two are:  

• Lead member in scrutiny arrangements, such as chair of a scrutiny panel  

Page 47



28 
 

• Representative on key outside body  

• Chair of major regulatory committee e.g planning  

• Chair of council business (civic mayor)  

• Leader of principal opposition group  

• Majority party chief whip (in respect of council business). 

Remuneration 

The Panel proposes that band two allowances should be on a sliding scale between 25-50 per 

cent, pro rata of the remuneration package for a council leader. 

This is made up as follows:  

Basic allowance £15,960 

Band two allowances: £15,523 - £31,046 

Total: £31,483 - £47,006  

Page 48



29 
 

BAND THREE  

The Panel sees this band as appropriate to the following posts:  

• Cabinet member 

• Chair of the Health and Wellbeing Board  

• Chair of the main overview or scrutiny committee  

• Deputy leader of the council 

Remuneration: 

The Panel proposes that band three allowances should be between 60-75 per cent pro rata of 

the remuneration package for a council leader. 

This is made up as follows:  

Basic allowance: £15,960 

Band three allowance: £37,255 - £46,569 

Total: £53,215 - £62,529 

 

BAND FOUR  

Leader of the Council  

This is often a full-time role, involving a high level of responsibility. It is right that it should 

be remunerated on a basis which compares with roles with similar levels of responsibility, 

while still retaining a reflection of the voluntary character of public service.  

Remuneration: 

The Panel proposes that the remuneration package for a council leader under band four 

of our scheme should be £78,052. 

This is made up as follows:  

Basic allowance: £15,960 

Band four allowance: £62,092 

Total: £78,052 

 

BAND FIVE  

Directly elected mayor  

A directly elected mayor has a full-time job with a high level of responsibility and exercises 

executive responsibilities over a fixed electoral cycle. It is right that it should be remunerated 

on a basis which compares with similar positions in the public sector, while still retaining a 

reflection of the voluntary character of public service. However, the Panel believes that this 

post remains different to that of the strong leader with cabinet model. The directly elected 

mayor is directly elected by the electorate as a whole. The strong leader holds office at the 

Page 49



30 
 

pleasure of the council and can be removed by the council. The Panel believes that the 

distinction is paramount and this should be reflected in the salary level.  

Remuneration: 

The Panel proposes that a directly elected mayor should receive a remuneration of £93,575.  

 

 

Page 50



Document is Restricted

Page 51

Agenda Item 8
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 57

Agenda Item 9a



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 59

Agenda Item 9b



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 61

Agenda Item 10



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 79

Agenda Item 11



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 87

Agenda Item 12



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 107

Agenda Item 13



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 113

Agenda Item 14



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes
	4 Special Responsibility Allowance: Update on Implementation
	Appendix 1

	8 Minutes
	9a Saint Peter with St Thomas, Bethnal Green
	9b North Woolwich St John w Silvertown
	10 Charging Review 2024/25
	11 City Hospitality and Community Engagement Events
	12 Equity, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion (EEDI) and Events Working Group and Diversity Questionnaire
	13 Update to City Corporation Flag Policy
	14 Applications for the use of Great Hall

